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Abstract: This document is an architectural survey of Building 6824, 
Pence Elementary School, constructed in 1954 at Fort Leonard Wood, 
Missouri. This survey was initiated for a Section 106 process and satisfies 
Section 110, both of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 as 
amended. The work was used to determine the eligibility of the school for 
inclusion on the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP). It is the 
determination of this report that Pence Elementary School is not eligible 
to the NRHP because it is not individually significant and is not part of a 
larger historic district. 

 

DISCLAIMER: The contents of this report are not to be used for advertising, publication, or promotional purposes. 
Citation of trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use of such commercial products. 
All product names and trademarks cited are the property of their respective owners. The findings of this report are not to 
be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents. 
 
DESTROY THIS REPORT WHEN NO LONGER NEEDED. DO NOT RETURN IT TO THE ORIGINATOR. 
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1 Introduction 

Background 

Through the years, the U.S. Congress has enacted laws to preserve our na-
tional cultural heritage. The Antiquities Act of 1906 was the first major 
federal preservation legislation and was instrumental in securing protec-
tion for archeological resources on federal property. The benefits derived 
from it and subsequent legislation precipitated an expanded need for the 
preservation of historic cultural resources. With this growing awareness, 
the Congress passed the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 
(NHPA), the most sweeping cultural resources legislation to date. 

The Congress created the NHPA to provide guidelines and requirements 
aimed at preserving tangible elements of our past, primarily through the 
creation of the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP). This piece of 
legislation (Sections 106 and 110) requires federal agencies to address 
their cultural resources, defined as any prehistoric or historic district, site, 
building, structure, or object. Section 110 requires federal agencies to in-
ventory and evaluate their cultural resources. Section 106 requires the de-
termination of effect of federal undertakings on properties deemed eligible 
or potentially eligible for the NRHP. 

The U.S. Army Maneuver Support Center of Excellence (MSCoE) is located 
at Fort Leonard Wood (FLW), Missouri. FLW is located off of Interstate 
44, in the northern portion of the Ozarks. The installation presently con-
tains nearly 61,895 acres of the Missouri Ozarks and is located about 120 
miles southwest of St. Louis and 85 miles northeast of Springfield, Mis-
souri (Figure 1). The cantonment occupies approximately 6,000 acres in 
the northeast portion of the fort (Figure 2). Ranges and impact areas oc-
cupy most of the southern half of the fort. 

The post was created in December 1940 and by early January 1941 the War 
Department designated the installation as Fort Leonard Wood. The post 
was named in honor of General Leonard Wood, a former Army Chief of 
Staff. In April 1941, FLW received its first soldiers. While initially desig-
nated an infantry division training area, FLW quickly took on an engineer 
training mission for World War II (WWII).  
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Following the end of WWII in 1945, training ceased completely by 1946 
and the post was put on the inactive list; it reopened in August 1950 for 
the Korean Conflict. In 1956, the installation was designated the U.S. Army 
Training Center-Engineer. Because of its new status as a permanent post, 
FLW received funds to replace the wooden WWII-era buildings with per-
manent brick and concrete structures (Roberts 2008).  

In 1985, FLW entered yet another phase in its history. That year, the Sec-
retary of the Army announced that the U.S. Army Engineer School 
(USAES) would move from Fort Belvoir, Virginia, to FLW as part of the 
Base Realignment and Closure (BRAC) action. In 1999, the BRAC process 
also closed Fort McClellan, Alabama, causing the U.S. Army Chemical 
School (USACS)1

 

 and U.S. Army Military Police Corps School (USAMPS) 
to be transferred to FLW. FLW was concurrently redesignated the U.S. 
Army Maneuver Support Center and today, is an MSCOE.  

 
Figure 1. Location of FLW is indicated by the push-pin (Bing maps). 

                                                                 
1 Now known as the Chemical, Biological, Radiological, and Nuclear (CBRN) School. 
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Figure 2. Map of FLW from July 2000, with Building 6824 indicated by the red box in the 

upper left corner (FLW Natural Resources Branch). 

Per Section 110 of the NHPA, FLW must evaluate all of its buildings and 
structures aged 50 years and older. FLW has completed several architec-
tural surveys for Section 110 compliance; however, Building 6824 (Pence 
Elementary School) was not included in any of the previous reports. The 
Engineer Research and Development Center, Construction Engineering 
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Research Laboratory (ERDC-CERL) subsequently was tasked to complete 
a full assessment of Building 6824. 

Objectives 

At the request of FLW, this study was to determine the historical signific-
ance of the 1954 Building 6824, Pence Elementary School, at FLW, Mis-
souri. This work was to specifically assess the school for eligibility to the 
NRHP. For a property to qualify for the NRHP, it must meet at least one of 
the National Register Criteria for Evaluation, must be significantly asso-
ciated with an important historic context, and must retain sufficient inte-
grity to convey its significance. 

Approach 

Per Section 110 of the NHPA, FLW needs to evaluate all of its buildings 
and structures that are 50 years of age and older; Building 6824 falls with-
in that category by having a construction date of 1954. The building was 
not included in previous surveys conducted by ERDC-CERL; at the time 
those times, Building 6824 was leased to Waynesville R-VI School District.  

This work was accomplished in the following steps: 

Archival research 

Archival research involves two primary tasks: (1) the initial literature re-
view, and (2) the identification and location of primary research materials. 

Literature review  

The research team used an existing architectural survey for a general un-
derstanding of the history of FLW. Secondary literature determined the 
history of Department of Defense (DoD) school construction and their sig-
nificance in the history of the United States and of FLW. Sources included 
a variety of published and unpublished material, notably: the Fort Leo-
nard Wood Integrated Cultural Resources Management Plan FY 2002 to 
2006 (Edging 2003), Fort Leonard Wood Building Survey 1941 to 1956 
(Smith et al. 2003), FLW Rolling Pin Barracks and Associated Buildings 
Context and Inventory (Smith et al. 2007), and Fort Leonard Wood Can-
tonment Landscape Context, Inventory, and Management (Tooker et al. 
2007).  
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Primary research materials 

The research team located primary research materials and additional sec-
ondary sources to establish a strategy to best use these resources. Research 
material for the school was gathered during the site visit to FLW. The ma-
terial included maps and a file folder full of information from the Waynes-
ville School District R-VI. 

Site visit  

In April 2011, members of the research team conducted one site visit to 
FLW to survey the school and conduct research. During this visit, re-
searchers collected archival information, such as maps and historic photo-
graphs from Cultural Resources. Researchers conducted site reconnais-
sance on foot using photography, sketches, and note taking. After the site 
visit, the research team made preliminary determinations of historic signi-
ficance. 

Analysis 

After completing the initial research, the team analyzed the gathered re-
sources and information. Historic maps and photographs were examined 
and compared to current day conditions. DoD school history was re-
searched and was synthesized with information taken from a previous re-
port on the history and architecture of DoD Schools. The team used those 
resources to determine the structure’s integrity, and then, based on histor-
ic context and themes, determined its historic significance. 

Evaluation  

The evaluation of structures followed the guidelines in National Register 
Bulletin #15, How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation, 
and National Register Bulletin #16, How to Complete the National Regis-
ter Registration Form. In addition, the survey followed the DoD guidance, 
Guidelines for Identifying and Evaluating Historic Military Landscapes 
(Loechl et al. 2009). 

Mode of technology transfer 

This report will be made accessible through the World Wide Web (WWW) 
at URL: http://libweb.wes.army.mil/uhtbin/hyperion/CERL-TR-11-25.pdf 
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2 Historic Context of Department of 
Defense Schools 

This chapter contributes to the evaluation of the significance of Building 
6824 (Pence Elementary School) at FLW by situating it within the general 
historic context of DoD school design and construction. 

General history 

In the early 1800s, the one-room schoolhouse was typical (Figure 3). One 
room was necessary because one teacher was responsible for all students. 
Students would recite their assignments for the teacher while the rest of 
class listened. Students were promoted when the teacher felt that they 
were ready. In this way, younger students often learned what they needed 
to know from older students (Graves 1993, 22). 

During the first half of the 19th century, urban schools often had a different 
arrangement. The Lancastrian School System (named after educator Jo-
seph Lancaster) allowed many more students to be taught by one teacher 
than in the one-room schoolhouse (Figure 4). The teacher would inten-
sively teach 50 students, who would then act as leaders and supervise 10 
students each. This arrangement allowed a single teacher to be in charge of 
500 students (ibid.). While such schools were gone by 1840, they served as 
an example of how group instruction could function with few resources. 

Beginning in the 1840s, students were separated by grade with a teacher 
for each grade. The curriculum expanded beyond just reading and writing 
to include history, grammar, and composition. The classroom organization 
was essentially the same as it previously was, but now several classrooms 
were combined into one building. Drastic improvements in lighting, heat-
ing, toilet facilities, and fire safety created much nicer environments for 
the students (Graves 1993, 25). Still, schools were basically stacks of class-
rooms with an applied Gothic, Greek Revival, or Victorian facade to create 
a cohesive building (Figure 5). 
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Figure 3. One room schoolhouse, c. 1870 (Tanner, 4). 

 
Figure 4. Lancastrian school (Graves, 23). 
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Figure 5. Romanesque Revival style school in Milwaukee, c. 1889 (Tanner, 7). 

Post-World War II schools 

The year 1950 seems to be the turning point for school architecture. By 
this time, contemporary architecture had won the battle against traditional 
architecture. People began to realize that schools should be designed to 
meet the needs of students. 

Contemporary architecture of 1950s  

In contemporary architecture of this period, schools would no longer look 
like colonial mansions, but rather, they would have a unique identity to 
show the world that they were indeed a school and not to be confused with 
any other building type. Theories such as “form follows function” and 
“form should express function” were being applied to new school build-
ings. The students were being considered during the design process, with a 
corresponding realization that single-story flat-roof structures were more 
amicable to children due to their smaller overall size and lower ceiling 
heights (Caudill 1954, 16–17).  

New materials also were being introduced, such as glass and metal window 
walls with brick or concrete walls (Figure 6). Natural lighting and ventila-
tion were being considered; strip windows were being used for classrooms 
to let in more natural lighting (Figure 7).  
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For many communities, the 1950s were an opportune time period to im-
prove their schools. Following a lack of construction during the Great De-
pression and WW II eras and an increase in population of school-aged 
children, there was a demand for new schools. Sadly, schools in this time 
period often were built in a hurry and as inexpensively as possible, and 
this led to poorly insulated roofs and walls, poor lighting and ventilation, 
and the need for extensive yearly maintenance (Brubaker 1998, 15).  

 
Figure 6. A 1950s school design featuring a combination of brick with metal and glass (Two 

Connecticut, 155). 

Crow Island Elementary School in Winnetka, Illinois, was a design catalyst 
for school buildings built after the 1950s. Designed by architects Perkins, 
Wheeler, and Will in collaboration with Eliel and Eero Saarinen and con-
structed in 1940, this school was the first to separate from the traditional 
Victorian style of school buildings (Graves 1993, 33). The progressive de-
sign proved that no longer did a school have to conform to being essential-
ly a large cube with massive scale, formal architecture, and rigid organiza-
tion of classrooms. Crow Island School created an informal plan that 
allowed students to feel more comfortable, with each wing having its own 
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identity (Figure 8). The school was designed to meet the needs and wants 
of the child, not what adults think a child should be like (Tanner 2006, 13). 

 
Figure 7. Clerestory windows allow more natural light through the building (Orientation, 166). 
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Figure 8. Crow Island School plan (Christ-Janer, 95). 

The Crow Island School was built entirely on one floor, with a clock tower 
near the middle (Figure 9). Classrooms created fingers off main corridors 
that led to centralized shared spaces like the auditorium and library. Lots 
of windows allowed a tremendous amount of light into the space and help 
the students feel more relaxed. Nine-foot ceilings brought the classroom 
down to a scale that schoolchildren are comfortable with (compared to 12-
foot ceilings common in Victorian designs). Direct access to the outdoors 
from each classroom was also an amenity not seen in previous schools 
(Figure 10). Common brick was used on both the interior and exterior of 
the building, but exterior redwood trim and interior Ponderosa pine trim 
created a warm and inviting feeling for the students. Three fireplaces 
throughout the building also helped to reinforce the idea that students 
should feel at home in the learning environment (Graves. 1993, p.33-35). 

Crow Island added another classroom wing about 15 years after the origi-
nal building was completed. Many aspects of the original building were 
duplicated, but many issues that arose over that first 15 years were also 
addressed. For instance, larger overhangs addressed sky glare. Heating 
units were put under the windows to create more even heating, although it 
took away space that the sills created for displaying various projects. Taller 
chalkboards were installed to give greater surface area, but their height 
took away from the available space to pin up papers above the board. 
Classrooms remained L-shaped, but the L was reconfigured to make it 
more open and user friendly (“Crow Island” 1955, 130–137). 
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Figure 9.  A clock tower divides wings of Crow Island School (Brubaker 1998, 11). 

 
Figure 10. Each classroom at Crow Island has direct access to the outdoors (Christ-Janer, 98). 
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Campus plan design 

Also in the 1950s and the 1960s, there were a few examples of schools that 
were built under the campus plan. Similar to the finger plan of Crow Isl-
and, the campus plan featured central, shared services that were accessed 
by main corridors connected to classrooms. It was different, however, in 
that instead of having the “fingers” projecting from the corridors, there 
were circular classroom pods (Figure 11). Architect Warren Ashley de-
signed the Old Saybrook High School in Saybrook, Connecticut, with a 
looped corridor to connect the classroom pods to the main offices and ca-
feteria (Figure 12; New 1955, 147). 

 
Figure 11. Old Saybrook High School, site plan of pod design (New Kind of High School, 147). 
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Figure 12. Old Saybrook High School, birdseye view of pod design (New, 147). 

Another example of the campus plan is the Montgomery Central High 
School in Cunningham, Tennessee. This design by Shaver and Company 
architects (Figure 13) allowed the classroom clusters to completely sur-
round an administrative complex (Figure 14). The gymnasium building 
also was connected to the administrative complex and surrounded by spe-
cial-purpose classrooms such as home economics and woodshop (Sanders 
n.d.). 

 
Figure 13. Montgomery Central High School, Cunningham, Tennessee, floor plan (Sanders). 
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Figure 14. Montgomery Central High School, Cunningham, Tennessee (Sanders). 

Open-plan designs 

During the 1960s, the open-plan design influenced the layout of thousands 
of schools. The open plan made use of folding or moveable walls, to gain 
flexible space. An open plan allowed the space to adapt to the school’s 
changing needs and allowed for large, open space for team teaching along 
with small group and individual instruction. Perkins & Will were leading 
proponents of this theory with their design for The Disney School in Chi-
cago (Figure 15). This idea didn’t last very long as teachers complained of 
noise and visual distractions (Figure 16; Tanner 2006, 13). Research stu-
dies have been done on open plan schools and the results have been incon-
clusive and highly controversial. Many open plan schools have been refit-
ted with permanent wall partitions (Brubaker 1998, 20). 
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Figure 15. Disney School site plan (Tanner 2006, 16). 

 
Figure 16. Disney School open classroom (Tanner 2006, 17). 

Other design concepts 

After the 1960s, the benefits of natural lighting and ventilation were for-
gotten due to the introduction of air conditioning and fluorescent lighting 
in schools. Many designs reduced windows to vertical ribbons barely a foot 
wide, reasoning that views to the outside were distracting.  
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The 1980s saw a boom in enrollment, especially in high schools. In the 
1980s, school designs responded to the philosophy of outcome-based edu-
cation. In the beginning of the 21st century, the focus now is learner-
centered classrooms. Children are techno-savvy, and the classroom needs 
flexibility (Rydeen 2008). 

First school built under PL 81-874 

Lincoln Elementary, located at Fort Campbell, Kentucky and built in 1951, 
was the first school built under Public Law (PL) 81-874 (Figure 17). PL 81-
874 was an extension of the 1941 federal emergency measure (Lanham 
Act) and was referred to as the Impact Aid Program. PL 81-874 was passed 
by Congress in 1950 to assist local school districts with construction and 
costs of local public education that is impacted by federal defense efforts. 
School districts eligible for this funding included those where: (1) children 
lived on federal property and their parents worked on federal property; (2) 
children either lived on federal property or their parents worked on federal 
property; and (3) children whose parents came into the district as a result 
of federal contracts with private firms. Lincoln Elementary, primarily con-
structed of brick, exemplifies the style of the early 1950s school—a one-
story structure with a flat roof (Figure 18).  

 
Figure 17. Lincoln Elementary and Public Law 81-874 (ERDC-CERL). 
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Figure 18. Lincoln Elementary School, Fort Campbell, Kentucky (ERDC-CERL). 

 

Fort Leonard Wood schools 

Constructed in 1912, Rolling Heath School (Figure 18) is currently the old-
est standing building on FLW. During FLW’s pre-installation days, Rolling 
Heath served as the area elementary school until 1940 for students 
through eighth grade. The school was restored between 1993 and 1995 
through a grant from the DoD Legacy Resource Management Program. 
Currently, the school is a natural and cultural resources outreach and edu-
cation center for the Directorate of Public Works (DPW), Natural Re-
sources Branch. 

Like the rest of the country, FLW saw a boost in school construction dur-
ing the 1950s due to the very large baby boomer generation entering the 
school system. Thayer Elementary School, Pick Elementary School, Wood 
Elementary School, Partridge Elementary School, and Pence Elementary 
School were all constructed at FLW during the 1950s according to FLW 
Real Property records.  
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Figure 19. Rolling Heath School, constructed in 1912, is currently the oldest building located 

at Fort Leonard Wood (ERDC-CERL2004). 
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3 Survey Results 

The identification of historically significant properties is achieved through 
evaluation of their position within the larger historic context. According to 
the NRHP, historic contexts are defined as “…the patterns, themes, or 
trends in history by which a specific occurrence, property, or site is un-
derstood and its meaning (and ultimately its significance) within prehisto-
ry or history is made clear (NPS 1991). A historic property is determined 
significant or not significant by applying standardized National Register 
Criteria for Evaluation within the property’s historical context. 

Several previous surveys have been completed for FLW. These reports de-
fined a historic context, and the purpose of these reports was to identify, 
inventory, and evaluate the historic resources on site. Building 6824 
(Pence Elementary School) was not included in a previous report because 
the school was leased to Waynesville R-VI School District and was not be-
ing operated by FLW at that time (see “Previous studies” section below). 
Since then, the building lease has been terminated, and the building has 
been transferred back to the Army. 

Applying criteria for evaluation 

The National Register Criteria for Evaluation describe how properties and 
districts are significant for their association with important events (Crite-
rion A) or persons (Criterion B), for their importance in design or con-
struction (Criterion C), or for their information potential (Criterion D). 
The following is a brief description of the four NRHP Criteria for Evalua-
tion, as excerpted from NPS Bulletin #15 (NPS 1991, 2):2, 3

Criterion A (event)—“associated with events that have made a sig-
nificant contribution to the broad patterns of our history; or” 

 

Criterion B (person)—“associated with the lives of persons signifi-
cant in our past; or” 
Criterion C (design/construction)—“embody the distinctive cha-
racteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, or that 
represent the work of a master, or that possess high artistic values, or 

                                                                 
2 NPS Bulletin #15 reproduces the Criteria for Evaluation and notes that they also are found in the Code 

of Federal Regulations, Title 36, Part 60.  
3 Descriptive wording in parentheses has been added by the report authors. 
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that represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose compo-
nents may lack individual distinction; or” 

Criterion D (information potential)—“yielded, or is likely to yield, in-
formation important in prehistory or history.” 

Aspects of integrity 

In addition to possessing historical significance, in order to be eligible to 
the NRHP properties must also retain sufficient physical integrity of fea-
tures to convey its significance  (NPS 1991, 44). 

Historic properties both retain integrity and convey their significance, or 
they do not. Within the concept of integrity, the National Register criteria 
recognize seven aspects or qualities that, in various combinations, define 
integrity. To retain historic integrity, a property will always possess sever-
al, and usually most, of the aspects. The retention of specific aspects of in-
tegrity is paramount for a property to convey its significance. Determining 
which of these aspects are most important to a particular property requires 
knowing why, where, and when the property is significant. 

Districts and individual resources are considered to be significant if they 
possess a majority of the following Seven Aspects of Integrity (NPS 1991, 
44–45): 

1. Location is the place where the historic property was constructed or the 
place where the historic event occurred. 

2. Design is the combination of elements that create the form, plan, space, 
structure, and style of a property. It results from conscious decisions made 
during the original conception and planning of a property (or its signifi-
cant alteration) and applies to activities as diverse as community planning, 
engineering, architecture, and landscape architecture. Design includes 
such elements as organization of space, proportion, scale, technology, or-
namentation, and materials. 

3. Setting is the physical environment of a historic property. Setting refers to 
the character of the place in which the property played its historical role. It 
involves how, not just where, the property is situated and its relationship 
to surrounding features and open space. 

4. Materials are the physical elements that were combined or deposited dur-
ing a particular period of time and in a particular pattern or configuration 
to form a historic property. 
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5. Workmanship is the physical evidence of the crafts of a particular culture 
or people during any given period in history or prehistory. 

6. Feeling is a property’s expression of the aesthetic or historic sense of a par-
ticular time period. 

7. Association is the direct link between an important historic event or per-
son and a historic property. 

Previous studies 

Pence Elementary School was not surveyed as part of the Fort Leonard 
Wood Building Survey 1941 to 1956 (Smith et al. 2003), even though the 
construction date of the elementary school, 1954, falls within the time pe-
riod for others structures surveyed. The reason the building was not sur-
veyed is because it was not owned/operated by FLW at that time, but ra-
ther was leased to Waynesville R-VI School District.  

The Secretary of the Army granted to the Commissioner of Education (De-
partment of Health, Education, and Welfare) 2.30 acres on FLW property 
under Permit No. 84-15, which was effective August 5, 1953. The Secretary 
of the Army, acting for and on behalf of the United States of America, as 
Secretary, did grant Lease No. DACA41-1-99-501 to the Waynesville R-VI 
School District, for the construction, operation, and maintenance of the 
school facilities (Pence Elementary School).4

The following is a brief history of ownership and use of the building as ex-
tracted from various letters and documentation provided to the ERDC-
CERL research team from the Waynesville School District

  

5

• Department of Health, Education, and Welfare 
Termination of Permit 
  
The permit granted by the Commissioner of Education, Department of Health, Education, 
and Welfare, hereinafter called the Commissioner, on November 20, 1956, to the Way-
nesville Reorganized School District No. 6, Waynesville, Missouri, hereinafter called the 
Agency, to use and occupy for school purposes the school facilities designated as Project 
No. Mo-56-C-FED-1A6, on Fort Leonard Wood Military Reservation, Missouri, provides 
that "This permit shall remain in effect until terminated by mutual agreement of the par-
ties or revoked by the Commissioner." The Commissioner declares permit terminated as 
of August 29, 1957 (see Appendix B). 

:  

                                                                 
4 Pence Elementary School was built by the Waynesville R-VI School District, not by FLW. FLW leased the 

property, not the school building, to the school district and the school district had the school con-
structed on the property. 

5 Although the school was constructed in 1953, the file provided by the school district starts with 1956. 
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• Permit for School Purposes on Fort Leonard Wood Military Reservation 
Waynesville, Missouri 
  
The Waynesville Reorganized School District No. 6, Waynesville, Missouri, a local edu-
cation agency, is herby granted a permit beginning on the 29th day of August, 1957, by 
the Commissioner of Education, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare to use 
and occupy for school purposes, pursuant to Public Laws 815 and 874, 81st Congress, as 
amended and the permit dated April 6, 1954, to the Commissioner from the Secretary of 
the Army, all school buildings and other facilities located on the land in the State of Mis-
souri, County of Pulaski, which is described at the end hereof, together with all equip-
ment, furnishings, and appurtenances installed therein or located thereon on the date of 
this permit or thereafter provided by the Commissioner, all of which are hereinafter col-
lectively referred to as the Property.  
  
This permit shall remain in effect until terminated by mutual agreement of the parties or 
revoked by the Commissioner.  
A) Termination of the permit for the use of the land granted to the Commissioner by the 
Secretary of the Army under date of April 6, 1954 (see Appendix C). 

• Letter dated 22 May 1981 
  
Reference is made to USOE permit for use of Real Property by a Federal Agency Permit 
No. MO-52-C-FED-1A, which grants to the Department of the Army (Permittee) by the 
Commissioner of Education (Permitter) the use of Pence Elementary School at FLW, 
Missouri, for Army Child Care Center, for 5-year term, beginning 1 July 1980 and ending 
30 June 1985 (see Appendix D).  

• Letter dated April 26, 1994 

Subjects: 1. Return of Pence School Building 

The Waynesville School District once again requests the return of the Pence School 
Building for use by the district. The Board realizes the Army is constructing a child care 
facility which was discussed with us more than 10 years ago. According to a conversation 
with General Ballard, that facility should be completed in mid-year 1995.  

1. Purpose: To provide information on ownership and return of control of the building be-
ing occupied by Pence Child Development Center.6

2. Discussion.  

  

a. The land under Pence has been under Department of the Army lease to the Commis-
sioner of Education since 1953. The building was constructed by the R-VI school district 
and is owned by the district. The same principle applies to the other 6 school buildings on 
post. 

b. In 1980, the installation requested use of the building as a CDC and was issued a use 
permit in that year. The permit was renewed over the course of the intervening years until 
June of 1990.  

c. In March 1990, the school district requested return of the building (based on antic-
ipated construction of the new CDC effective 1 July 1991). The occupation permit has 
not been renewed and we are currently occupying the building under sufferance of the 
school district. 

d. The school district plans to re-occupy the building as a school housing general and ex-
panded special education missions upon completion of the new CDC in 1995 (Appendix 
E).  

                                                                 
6 Author’s note: later referred to in abbreviated form as “CDC.” 



ERDC/CERL TR-11-25 25 

 

• November 15, 1994 letter from Waynesville R-VI School District 
  
During the decade of the 80s, many specific improvements were made in all the buildings 
we operate on FLW. At this time, Pence School leased to the Army for a Pre-School child 
care facility. It appears that with the completion of a new child facility for the FLW 
community, this school district will reacquire Pence building. 

• Pursuant to the Resolution of the Waynesville R-VI School Districted dated May 18, 
1998, and December 20, 1999, to obtain ownership of the Pence Elementary School lo-
cated within FLW, Missouri, and in accordance with section 8008 (b) of the Elementary 
and Secondary Education Act of 1965, formal request is hereby made for the transfer of 
the school facility from the United States of America, U.S. Department of Education to 
the Waynesville R-VI School District (see Appendix F).  

• Permit Termination Agreement signed and dated 2001 
for Department of Education Schools 
Located on Fort Leonard Wood 
Pulaski County, Missouri 
  
Is made by and between the Secretary of Army (Permittor) and the Department of Educa-
tion (Permittee) effective upon the date of execution by both parties. 
  
Whereas: The Secretary of the Army granted seven separate permits to the Department of 
Education to use and occupy, for school purposes, seven separate parcels of land on the 
FLW Military Installation, Missouri, between 5 August 1953 and 1 April 1962; and 
  
Whereas: The Department of Education in accordance with 20 U.S.C. Section 7708, has 
proposed to terminate the seven existing permits located on the FLW Military Installa-
tion, Missouri, and transfer all capital improvements to the Waynesville R-VI School 
District by individual "quitclaim deed" over a period of time (see Appendix G). 

• According to Resolution Waynesville R-V1 Board of Education Pence Elementary 
School in January 2011, it was stated “to terminate and rescind the ground lease on the 
Pence Elementary School on Fort Leonard Wood and in the quitclaim by the Waynesville 
R-V1 School district to the appropriate governmental entity of the United States. The 
quitclaim deed granted by the school district will include language that the building is 
transferred in its “as-is” condition, the School District makes no warranties as to the con-
dition of the building, and assumes no liability of any type after the transfer, including for 
the existence of materials such as friable and non-friable asbestos contained in the trans-
ferred building.”  

• A letter dated February 2011 sent on behalf of the Waynesville R-V1 School District; of-
fice of the Superintendent stated that “The Pence School building located on Fort Leo-
nard Wood has provided the School District and many on-base families with years of ser-
vice. However, the usefulness of the Pence School building to the School District has 
ended. Because of its age and structural obsolescence, the building premises can no long-
er serve the School District’s needs. Therefore, the School Board requests that the ground 
lease dated May 1, 2006, and any amendments or additions thereto be terminated by writ-
ten mutual agreement. Additionally, the School District requests that the Army accept 
title to the building premises. Finally, it is requested that the Army assume the cost of 
demolition of the building.  

Furthermore an e-mail dated January 4, 2011, requested verification that 
the school building was not characterized or registered as a historical 
structure by the Missouri Office of Historical Preservation.7

                                                                 
7 In an e-mail dated January 4, 2011 and addressed to Dr. Jon Oetinger, Assistant Superintendant of 

 A website that 
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provides a registry listing of the designated “historical” buildings in Pu-
laski County was accessed; it was determined that the Pence School build-
ing was not included in that list of historical buildings located in that 
county.  

Final determinations of eligibility 

The following sections detail this study’s findings regarding the historical 
significance of the 1954 Pence Elementary School, Building 6824 at FLW, 
Missouri. 

Finding for Criterion A — Event 

Building 6824, Pence Elementary School, is not associated with any par-
ticular event that is significant in the history of the overall Cold War pe-
riod or in the history of FLW. The building was constructed to meet the 
growing needs of the school-age child living on post.  

Finding for Criterion B — Person 

There is no significant person associated with the school. 

Finding for Criterion C — Design/Construction 

According to the drawing documentation provided by FLW, Dan R. Sand-
ford and Sons Architects was a firm with offices in Springfield and Kansas 
City, Missouri, that designed the elementary school in 1954. However, the 
research team could not locate any additional information about the de-
signers. An analysis by the research team reveals that the construction and 
the design of this school are not unique to school building. It is of perma-
nent materials such as concrete block walls clad with brick veneer. The 
rectangular layout of the building allows the classrooms and support 
rooms to be located off a central corridor. The original windows were five-
pane steel awning windows that have been replaced with anodized bronze 
aluminum one-over-one windows and the original steel, three-light doors 

                                                                                                                                           

 

Schools, Donna Roberts requested verification that the school building was not characterized or regis-
tered as a historical structure by the Missouri Office of Historical Preservation (office name as used in 
email; apparently correctly referred to as Missouri State Historical Preservation Office).  
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with sidelights and transoms have been replaced with anodized bronze 
aluminum and glass doors with sidelights and transoms (Figure 20–
Figure 29). For a complete explanation of the original design intent and 
subsequent modifications, please refer to the Inventory Form in Chapter 4.  

 
Figure 20. North elevation with main entrance and wall of windows; original drawing on the 
left from 1954 with origial five-pane awning windows, compared to the current replacement 

doors, sidelights, transom, and metal double-hung windows in photo on the right. 

 
Figure 21. Window comparison: original drawing on the left from 1954, showing five-pane 

awning type windows compared with photo on the right, showing current replacement metal 
double-hung windows and a newer door opening filled with a metal door and metal siding . 
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Figure 22. Southwest entrance elevation: original drawing on the left from 1954, compared to 

the current replacement doors, sidelights, and transom in photo on the right. 

 
Figure 23. Entrance on south elevation: original drawing on the left from 1954, compared to 

the current replacement doors and transom in photo on the right. 
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Figure 24. Entrance into the cafeteria on the east wall: original drawing on the left from 1954, 

compared to the current replacement door, transom, and windows in photo on the right. 

 
Figure 25. Right side of the west elevation: original drawing on the left from 1954, compared 

to the current replacement door, transom, and windows in photo on the right. 

 
Figure 26. Cafeteria addition: original drawing on the left from 1954 with no expanded 

cafeteria space, compared to the current size of the cafeteria with the construction of an 
addition highlighted in red in photo on the right. 
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Figure 27. Classroom detail of coat “cubby” area, teacher’s storage closet, and workstation 

with sink: original drawing on the left from 1954, compared to the current condition of a 
typical classroom detail in photo on the right. 

 
Figure 28. Classroom detail of storage shelf and tack board: original drawing on the left from 

1954, compared to the current condition of a typical classroom detail with a replacement 
whiteboard where the tack board used to be located in photo on the right. 

 
Figure 29. Classroom detail of chalkboard: original drawing on the left from 1954, compared 
to the current condition of a typical classroom detail where the original chalkboard has been 

replaced by a whiteboard in photo on the right. 

Finding for Criterion D — History 

The available historical records provided no indication that the school has 
yielded, or would be likely to yield, any information important in prehisto-
ry or history. 

Final Determination  

It is the determination of this report that Building 6824, Pence Elementary 
School, is NOT eligible to the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) 
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since it could not be related to a significant event for Criterion A, a signifi-
cant person for Criterion B, a significant architect or design for Criterion 
C, nor is it likely to yield information potential for Criterion D.  
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4 CERL Inventory Form 

FORT LEONARD WOOD, MISSOURI 
HISTORIC PROPERTY INVENTORY FORM 

Rolla Street wraps around the 
north and west sides of the 
building 

PROPERTY 
BOUNDARIES 

Newburg Street is to the east 
Pulaski Court is to the south 
Located in Pulaski County, 
Missouri 

Pence Elementary School/Building 6824  
COMMON/HISTORIC NAME/BUILDING # 

Vacant  
STATUS 

Dan R. Sandford & Sons 
Architects, Springfield-
Kansas City, Missouri 

ARCHITECT/BUILDER 

1954 

DATE OF 
CONSTRUCTION 

Unknown – addition on 
the southwest corner; 
1986 replacement doors 
and windows, modified 
window pattern 

DATE OF 
ALTERATIONS 

1  
NO. OF STORIES 

L-Shape  
FOOTPRINT 

Flat  
ROOF FORM 

Concrete  
FOUNDATION 

Concrete masonry units 
with brick veneer 

WALLS 
Built-up  
ROOF 

NOTABLE FEATURES PROPERTY FUNCTION 
o L-shape footprint modified with an addition on 

the southwest corner (cafeteria enlargement) 
o One-story 
o Brick veneer exterior walls 
o Flat roof 
o Modified window patterns with the addition of 

replacement windows and new door openings 
o Replacement wood interior doors (with the ex-

ception of one original in Health Room No. 5) 
o Original classroom configuration 
o Original bathroom fixtures 
o Original wood three-light vestibule doors and 

fixed transoms 

HISTORIC USE(S) CURRENT USE 
Education Vacant 

Building 6824 is located on the northwest corner of the 
cantonment and is surrounded by Mark Twain National 
Forest. The building is situated in the Eagle Point neigh-
borhood. The school is northwest of the intersection of 
Indiana Avenue and Pulaski Avenue.  

RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER BUILDINGS 
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Photo 1. Main entrance on the north elevation. 

Photo 2. Left side of the north elevation.  
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Photo 3. Replacement windows and modified window pattern. 

Photo 4. North elevation with newer door opening. 
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Photo 5. Replacement anodized bronze aluminum and plate glass doors, transom, and windows on the 
north elevation at the main entry. 

Photo 6. Newer door opening on the right side of the north elevation. 
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Photo 7. Looking back west toward the north elevation. 

Photo 8. Cornerstone located on the northeast corner of the building. 
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Photo 9. Replacement doors located on the west elevation. 

Photo 10. Original “footscraper” for shoes located near the entry on the west elevation. 
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Photo 11. West elevation. 

Photo 12. West elevation with some original playground fixtures; photo also is looking at the addition to 
the cafeteria. 
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Photo 13. West elevation with the addition to the cafeteria shown at the right side of the photo. 

Photo 14. Left side of the south elevation with replacement entry doors. 
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Photo 15. Close-up of replacement doors, transom, and sidelights on the left side of the south elevation. 

Photo 16. South elevation. 
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Photo 17. Typical replacement entry door. 

Photo 18. Typical replacement one-over-one double-hung windows on the addition portion of the 
cafeteria. 
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Photo 19. Close-up of replacement window and windowsill.  
 

Photo 20. Replacement aluminum soffit and gutters. 
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Photo 21. Replacement door into the cafeteria. 
 

Photo 22. Replacement door from the boiler room on the south elevation. 
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Photo 23. The east end of the south elevation. 
 

Photo 24. Typical modified door opening leading into classroom space. 
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Photo 25. Main entry on the south elevation. 

Photo 26. Bell and replacement metal soffit and fascia. 
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Photo 27. Entry on the east elevation with original railings, columns, post, and canopy structure. 

Photo 28. Modified canopy on the east elevation. 
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Photo 29. Looking up inside the canopy structure on the east elevation. 

Photo 30. Close-up of railings near the east entry. 
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Photo 31. Older style replacement door on the right side of the east elevation. 

Photo 32. Original slide. 
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Photo 33. Original swingset. 

Photo 34. Original slide. 
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Photo 35. Original jungle gym in foreground with newer version in the background. 

Photo 36. Original playground fixtures. 
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Photo 37. Looking north toward nearby houses located in the Eagle Point neighborhood that surrounds 
the school. 

 

Photo 38. Original vestibule entry doors located near the north entry. 
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Photo 39. Fixed-pane transom windows located above the vestibule doors near the north entry. 

Photo 40. Radiator cover located in the vestibule. 



ERDC/CERL TR-11-25 54 

 

Photo 41. Walking through the vestibule into the main corridor with original asbestos tile flooring. 

Photo 42. Office window near main entry. 
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Photo 43. Intersection of hallways. 

Photo 44. Looking up into the acoustical tile ceiling near the interection of the hallways. 



ERDC/CERL TR-11-25 56 

 

Photo 45. Original Classroom No. 1 sign. 

Photo 46. Inteiror of Classroom No. 1. 
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Photo 47. Looking east down the main corridor. 

Photo 48. Original Classroom No. 2 sign. 
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Photo 49. Interior of Classroom No. 2. 

Photo 50. Original Classroom No. 3 sign. 
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Photo 51. Interior of Classroom No. 3. 

Photo 52. Original Classroom No. 4 sign. 
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Photo 53. Original Classroom No. 4 sign. 
 

Photo 54. Health Room No. 5 original door. 
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Photo 55. Older ceiling-mounted light fixture in Health Room No. 5. 
 

Photo 56. Original toilet room in Health Room No. 5 showing glazed tile walls. 
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Photo 57. Original toilet in Health Room No. 5. 
 

Photo 58. Original sink and glazed tile wall in Health Room No. 5. 
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Photo 59. Replacement cabinets in Health Room No. 5. 
 

Photo 60. Office No. 6 replacement door. 
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Photo 61. Replacement light fixture in Office No. 6. 
 

Photo 62. Boys’ Toilet No. 7. 
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Photo 63. Original tile floor and glazed tile walls in Boys’ Toilet No. 7. 
 

Photo 64. Light fixture in Boys’ Toilet No. 7. 
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Photo 65. Original Janitor No. 9 sign. 
 

Photo 66. Original glazed tile walls and mop sink in Janitor No. 9. 
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Photo 67. Girls’ Toilet No. 8. 

Photo 68. Original sink (left) replacement sink (right), original glazed tile wall, and original tile floor in 
Girls’ Toilet No. 8. 
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Photo 69. Replacement window in Girls’ Toilet No. 8. 

Photo 70. Teachers’ Work Room No. 10. 
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Photo 71. Interior of Classroom No. 11. 

Photo 72. Workstation in Classroom No. 11 with replacement countertops. 
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Photo 73. New door leading to the outside from Classroom No. 11. 

Photo 74. Interior of Classroom No. 11. 
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Photo 75. Classroom No. 12 replacement door. 

Photo 76. Workstation and storage closet in Classroom No. 12 and a newer enclosed addition on the left 
side of the image. 
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Photo 77. Interior Classroom No. 12. 
 

Photo 78. Original metal vestibule doors and transom located at the east end of the corridor. 
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Photo 79. Looking west down the corridor near Classrooms No. 12 and 13. 
 

Photo 80. Water fountain near the east end of the central hallway.  
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Photo 81. Original Classroom No. 13 sign. 

Photo 82. Interior Classroom No. 13. 
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Photo 83. Speaker system located in Classroom No. 13. 

Photo 84. Original coat rack in Classroom No. 13. 
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Photo 85. Original Classroom No. 14 sign. 

Photo 86. Interior of Classroom No. 14. 
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Photo 87. Looking at the original chalkboard frame in Classroom No. 14. 
 

Photo 88. Fire extinguisher enclosure. 
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Photo 89. Looking west down the corridor near Classroom No. 14. 

Photo 90. Original alarm system. 
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Photo 91. Original Classroom No. 15 sign. 

Photo 92. Inteiror of Classrom No. 15. 
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Photo 93. Original Classroom No. 16 sign. 

Photo 94. Inteiror of Classroom No. 16. 
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Photo 95. Newer door opening with metal door leading from Classroom No. 16 to Classroom No. 17. 

Photo 96. Looking east in the corridor. 
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Photo 97. Original Classroom No. 17 sign. 

Photo 98. Interior of Classroom No. 17 looking towards coat room and workstation. 
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Photo 99. Interior of Classroom No. 17 looking towards modified chalkboard. 

 Photo 100. The original sliding track door leading into the boiler room. 
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 Photo 101. Weight for the original track door for the boiler room. 

 Photo 102. Interior of boiler room. 
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Photo 103. Newer metal door leading into the kitchen. 

 Photo 104. The pantry located off of the kitchen area. 
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 Photo 105. Wash station in the kitchen. 
 

Photo 106. Receiving window in the kitchen. 
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 Photo 107. Cooking area in the kitchen with all appliance removed. 
 

 Photo 108. Original clay tile floor in the cooking area of the kitchen. 
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 Photo 109. Replacement wood doors leading into the cafeteria. 

 Photo 110. Cafeteria looking at the cooking line. 
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 Photo 111. Cafeteria looking towards the newer addition located on the south end of the original 
cafeteria. 
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 Photo 112. The photograph is showing the connection between the original cafeteria (located on the right 
side) and the newer addition (located on the left side). 

t 
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 Photo 113. Newer addition of the cafeteria located to the south side of the original cafeteria. 
 

Photo 114. Radiator located in the cafeteria. 
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Photo 115. Radiator located in the cafeteria. 

Photo 116. Clock located in the cafeteria. 
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Photo 117. Original thermostat located in the cafeteria. 

Photo 118. Original metal vestibule doors and transom located on the south end of the corridor near the 
cafeteria. 
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Photo 119. Looking south towards the cafeteria entrance from the corridor. 
 

Photo 120. Water fountain located near the cafeteria entrance. 
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Photo 121. Original hop-scotch pattern layed in the asbestos tile in the corridor outside of the cafeteria 
entry doors. 
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Photo 122. Interior of Primary Room No. 23.  

Photo 123. Inteiror of Primary Room No. 23. 
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Photo 124. Original four-square designed in the floor tiles in Primary Room No. 23. 
 

Photo 125. Replacment bookshelf in Priamary Room No. 23. 
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Photo 126. One of two original toilet rooms located in the Primary Room No. 23. 
 

Photo 127. One of two original toilet rooms located in the Primary Room No. 23. 
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Photo 128. Original solid wood closet door located in the Primary Room No. 23.  

Photo 129. Original Boys’ Toilet No. 24 sign. 
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Photo 130. Original mosaic tile floor and glazed tile walls in Boys’ Toilet No. 24. 

Photo 131. Original Girls’ Toilet No. 25 sign and replacement door. 
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Photo 132. Original mosaic tile floor and glazed tile walls in Girls’ Toilet No. 25. 

Photo 133. Original Janitor No. 26 sign. 
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Photo 134. Original glazed tile walls and mop sink in Janitor No. 26. 
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MAPS  

UTM 15 
COORDINATES 

4181988N 
575278E 

Waynesville 
USGS QUAD 

 
 

Map 1.  Future location of Building 6824 indicated by red arrow, on portion of the 1946 cantonment map.  
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Map 2. Location of Building 6824 and surrounding family housing indicated by red box on 1962 map 
(FLW Natural Resources Branch). 
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Map 3. Close-up of 1962 map (above) with Building 6824 highlighted in red ( FLW Natural Resources 
Branch). 

Map 4. A 1997 map with Building 6824 highlighted with red arrow (US Geological Service). 
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Map 5. FLW, with Building 6824 indicated by the red box, July 2000 (FLW Natural Resources Branch). 
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Map 6. Location of Building 6824 and surrounding family housing indicated by red box, map from 
October 2010 (FLW Natural Resources Branch). 
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Map 7. Close-up of 2010 map with Building 6824 indicated by red arrow ( FLW Natural Resources 
Branch). 
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Building 6824 is located on the northwest corner of the cantonment and is surrounded by Mark Twain National 
Forest. The building is situated in the newer neighborhood known as Eagle Point. The school is northwest of the 
intersection of Indiana Avenue and Pulaski Avenue. Rolla Street wraps around the north and west sides of the 
building. Newburg Street is to the east and Pulaski Court is to the south. The building is located in Pulaski 
County, Missouri. Building 6824 is currently vacant. 

DESCRIPTION 

Building 6824 is a simple one-story structure with a concrete foundation, tan brick exterior walls, a flat built-up 
roof, replacement anodized bronze aluminum windows, modified door openings leading into the classrooms, 
replacement anodized bronze aluminum and plate glass entry doors with sidelights and transoms, metal cano-
pies, replacement metal fascia, replacement gutters and downspouts. Building 6824 has an L-shaped footprint 
modified with an addition on the southwest corner of the structure off the original cafeteria room. There are  
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three separate playground areas around the building. The structure has an approximate area of 20,864 square 
feet. The building is currently vacant.  

The exterior of the building has been modified over the years and the major alteration is the window pattern 
with the replacement of the original windows with the current windows, along with the modification of newer 
door openings being cut and fitted into the brick walls and then filled with single metal entry doors and metal 
siding. 

The interior of the building has twelve classroom spaces, an office/health room area, four toilet rooms, a teach-
er’s room, a kitchen, and a cafeteria. The interior consists of original vestibule doors with sidelights and tran-
soms, asbestos tiled corridor floors and some classroom floors, replacement acoustical tile drop ceilings, both 
original pendent ceiling light fixtures and replacement light fixtures, replacement wood classroom doors (with 
the exception of one door), toilet room fixtures, and classroom fixtures such as a workstation, coat “cubby” area, 
tackboards, chalkboards, and bookshelves.  

North Elevation: The north elevation faces Rolla Street. The main entry into the building is located in the mid-
dle of the elevation and is defined by a recessed entry (photo 1). The entry is replacement double doors; ano-
dized bronze aluminum and plate glass with sidelights and two fixed transoms above. A single replacement ano-
dized bronze aluminum one-over-one window flanks either side of the entry (photo 5). A metal canopy stretches 
above the entry and these two windows. The rest of the elevation is defined by a wall of replacement anodized 
bronze aluminum one-over-one windows. The left side of the elevation has fifteen windows and one single entry 
door (photo 2). Just to the right of the door is a set of paired replacement windows. The right side of the north 
elevation is dominated by a wall of replacement windows. Three new single door openings have been cut into 
the brick wall. All three of the openings have a metal door. Two of the three openings also have metal siding 
around the door, while the third one has plywood filled in around the door (photo 6). There are two separate 
fence- enclosed playgrounds on the north side of the building (photos 34-35). 

West Elevation: The left side of the west elevation projects outward from the rest of the exterior wall. To the 
right of this portion of the exterior wall is a recessed double door entry. The doors are replacement anodized 
bronze and plate glass with one fixed transom above (photo 9). Also near this entry is a metal “footscraper” 
(photo 10). To the right of the entry doors are two single replacement windows. The middle portion of the west 
elevation has a wall of six replacement windows and a single replacement door (photo 11). This door was origi-
nal to the construction drawings, not a later addition. The far right side of the west elevation is recessed from the 
rest of the exterior wall. This portion of the elevation is a later addition that was added to the original cafeteria 
(photo 13). There is a single entry anodized bronze aluminum and plate glass door leading into the addition. The 
addition is constructed of similar type tan brick and has a flat roof. A fenced playground is located on the 
southwest corner of the building (photo 36). 

South Elevation: The far left side of the south elevation is recessed from the portion where the newer addition 
projects outward (photo 14). A recessed double door entry is located on the far left side of the exterior wall. The 
entry consists of anodized bronze aluminum and plate glass double doors with two sidelights and a transom 
above (photo 15). A concrete pad stretches outward from the entry and runs along the west side of the addition. 
The south exterior wall of the addition has no door or window openings. To the right of the addition, the rest of 
the exterior wall is recessed. A solid metal door provides access into the boiler room. Next to this door is a set of 
paired replacement windows. The majority of the south elevation is dominated by a wall of replacement win-
dows (photo 23). There are two groups of windows with two newer door openings cut into the wall to the left of 
a recessed main entry and then there are three groups of windows with three newer door openings cut into the 
exterior wall to the right of the recessed entry (photo 24). The recessed entry is the main entry into the building 
on the south elevation (photo 25). The entry consists of replacement anodized bronze aluminum and plate glass 
doors with a fixed transom above. An original metal “footscraper” is located near the entry.  

East Elevation: The left side of the east elevation is recessed from the right side. The left side consists of the 
newer addition to the cafeteria and the original cafeteria wall. There are two groups of replacement windows on 
the east wall of the cafeteria. The left group of windows is on the addition portion, while the right group is on 
the original portion (photo 18). There is also a single entry replacement anodized bronze aluminum and glass 
door to the right of the group of windows on the original portion of the wall (photo 21). The right side of the east 
elevation projects outward and is defined as a main entry into the building from this side of the structure. The 
entry is recessed and consists of double doors of anodized bronze and glass (photo 28). A flat roof metal canopy 
supported by two metal columns hangs over a concrete stoop with metal handrails (photos 27-30). On the far 



ERDC/CERL TR-11-25 111 

 

right side of the east elevation is a newer door opening cut into the exterior wall. The opening is filled with a 
metal door with a small light (photo 31). A concrete ramp with metal handrail provides access to the door. A 
playground is located on the northeast corner of the structure (photos 32-33). 

Vestibule on the north entry: The vestibule has original three-light wood doors with two fixed pane transoms 
above, original door hardware, acoustical tile drop-ceiling, asbestos tile floor, and a metal radiator cover (photos 
38-40). 

Corridors: The classroom corridor stretches east to west through the middle of the building providing access to 
both classrooms and toilet rooms on either side of the corridor (photos 79 and 96). This corridor terminates at 
two vestibules; one at each end (photos 47, 118, and 119). An intersecting corridor is located near the middle 
that leads out to two original vestibules and the entries on the north and south elevations (photos 41 and 43). 
Another corridor is located at the southwest end of the structure that provides access to the Cafeteria Room No. 
22 and Primary Room No. 23 (photo 119). The corridors have acoustical tile drop-ceilings, concrete block walls, 
and asbestos tile floors (photo 44). There are several push-pin cork boards framed on the concrete block walls of 
the corridors, along with a couple of water fountains (photos 80 and 120). A hop-scotch game is depicted in the 
tile floor near the cafeteria entry doors. This detail was part of the original design of the interior of the school 
(photos 109 and 121 and floor plan 3); however, it was originally suppose to be located in the corridor between 
Classroom No. 3 and Boiler Room No. 18. 

Classroom No. 1: Classroom No. 1 is located at the northwest corner of the building. The room has a small area 
of floor tiles near the workstation and sink but the rest of the floor is covered with carpet, concrete block walls, 
an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, replacement ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” area, a small 
original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and original wood 
frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photo 46). A newer radiator system stretches below the replacement 
windows on the north wall. A new door opening has been cut into the dividing wall between Classroom No. 1 
and Classroom No. 2 on the east wall. A metal door fills the opening. According to the original floor plans, 
Classroom No. 1 was originally used as the Music, Arts and Crafts room. 

Classroom No. 2: Classroom No. 2 is located at the north side of the building near the west end of the structure, 
between Classrooms No. 1 and 3. The room has as workstation and sink area, a carpeted floor, concrete block 
walls, an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, replacement ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” area, a 
small original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and original wood 
frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photo 49). A newer radiator system stretches below the replacement 
windows on the north wall. A newer door opening has been cut into the dividing wall between Classroom No. 1 
and Classroom No. 2 on the west wall within the coat “cubby” area. A metal door fills the opening.  

Classroom No. 3: Classroom No. 3 is located at the north side of the building, between Classrooms No. 2 and 4. 
The room has as workstation and sink area, a carpeted floor, concrete block walls, an acoustical tile drop-
ceiling, original pendent ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” area, a small original storage closet 
with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and original wood frames for the tack board 
and chalkboard (photo 51). A newer radiator system stretches below the replacement windows on the north wall. 
A new door opening has been cut into the dividing wall between Classroom No. 3 and Classroom No. 4 on the 
east wall.  

Classroom No. 4: Classroom No. 4 is located at the north side of the building, between Classroom No. 3 and 
Health Room No. 5. The room has as workstation and sink area, a carpeted floor, concrete block walls, an 
acoustical tile drop-ceiling, replacement ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” area, a small origi-
nal storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and original wood frames for 
the tack board and chalkboard (photo 53). A newer radiator system stretches below the replacement windows on 
the north wall. A new door opening has been cut into the dividing wall between Classroom No. 3 and Classroom 
No. 4 on the west wall within the coat “cubby” area. A metal door fills the opening.  

Health Room No. 5: The only original interior door leading from the corridors into the rooms located off of 
them is located at Health Room No. 5. The door is solid wood with two small lights located near the top of the 
door (photo 54). The room has concrete block walls, drywall frame walls, a carpeted floor, acoustical tile drop-
ceiling, and original drop ceiling light fixtures (photo55). There is a row of replacement base cabinets with 
countertops located on the west wall (photo 59). There is small toilet room with original glazed tile walls and an 
original wood door (photo 56). Located adjacent to the toilet room is a small open space with glazed tile walls, a 
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sink, and a newer door leading to Classroom No. 4 (photo 58). According to the original plans there was a divid-
ing wall between Health Room No. 5 and Office No. 6; however, this wall has since been removed, making this 
one large room.  

Office No. 6: The room is located near the main entry and vestibule on the north elevation. The office has con-
crete block walls, carpeted floors, acoustical tile drop-ceiling, and replacement pendent light fixtures (photo 61). 
A newer window opening has been cut into the east wall of the office in order to provide visual access to the 
main entry on the north corridor/vestibule area (photo 42). According to the original plans, there was a dividing 
wall between Health Room No. 5 and Office No. 6; however, this wall has since been removed, making this one 
large room. 

Boys’ Toilet No. 7: The room is located adjacent to the main entry on the north elevation and is next to Janitor 
Room No. 9. The toilet room consists of the original mosaic tile floor, original glazed tile walls, and an original 
light fixture. There is a single replacement window located on the north wall (photo 62-64). 

Girls’ Toilet No. 8: The room is located between Janitor Room No. 9 and Teacher Work Room No. 10 on the 
north side of the building. The toilet room consists of the original mosaic tile floor, original glazed tile walls, 
and an original light fixture. There is a single replacement window located on the north wall (photo 67-69). 

Janitor Room No. 9: The room is located between Boys’ Toilet No. 7 and Girls’ Toilet No. 8 on the north side 
of the building near the main entry. The room is small and consists of the original glazed tile walls, concrete 
floor, and an original mop sink (photo 66).  

Teachers’ Work Room No. 10: The room is located between Girls’ Toilet No. 8 and Classroom No. 11 on the 
north side of the building. The room has concrete block walls, carpeted floors, acoustical tile drop-ceiling, and 
original pendent light fixtures (photo 70).  

Classroom No. 11: The room is located at the north side of the building, between Teachers Work Room No. 10 
and Classroom No. 12. The room has a workstation and sink area, a partially carpeted and partially tiled floor, 
concrete block walls, an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, original ceiling pendent light fixtures, an original open coat 
“cubby” area, a small original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, 
and original wood frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photos 71-74). A newer radiator system stretches 
below the replacement windows on the north wall.  

Classroom No. 12: The room is located at the northeast corner of the building, next to Classroom No. 11. The 
room has a workstation and sink area, asbestos tile flooring, concrete block walls, an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, 
original ceiling pendent light fixtures, a small original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, 
an original bookshelf, and original wood frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photos 76-77). A newer ra-
diator system stretches below the replacement windows on the north wall. The southwest corner of the room has 
been modified with the construction of partition walls to create a small enclosed area in that part of the room. 
Also, a newer door opening has been cut into the east wall of the room leading to the outside of the building. A 
metal door with a large light fills the opening (photo 77). 

Classroom No. 13: Classroom No. 13 is located at the southeast corner of the building, next to Classroom No. 
14. The room has as workstation and sink area, a partially carpeted and partially tiled floor, concrete block 
walls, an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, original pendent ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” area, 
a small original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and original 
wood frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photo 82). A newer radiator system stretches below the re-
placement windows on the south wall.  

Classroom No. 14: The room is located near the southeast corner of the building, between Classrooms No. 13 
and 15. The room has a workstation and sink area, a partially carpeted and partially tiled floor, concrete block 
walls, an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, original pendent ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” area, 
a small original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and original 
wood frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photos 86-87). A newer radiator system stretches below the 
replacement windows on the south wall.  

Classroom No. 15: The room is located at the south side of the building and is between Classrooms No. 14 and 
16. The room has a workstation and sink area, a partially carpeted and partially tiled floor, concrete block walls, 
an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, original pendent ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” area that has 
been slightly modified with newer shelves, a small original storage closet with an original wood door and hard-
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ware, and original wood frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photo 92). A newer radiator system stretches 
below the replacement windows on the south wall.  

Classroom No. 16: The room is located on the south side of the building, between Classrooms No. 15 and 17. 
The room has a workstation and sink area, a partially carpeted and partially tiled floor, concrete block walls, an 
acoustical tile drop-ceiling, original pendent ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” area, a small 
original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and original wood 
frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photo 94). A newer radiator system stretches below the replacement 
windows on the south wall. A newer door opening has been cut into the west wall of the classroom that leads to 
Classroom No. 17. A metal door with a small light fills the opening (photo 95). 

Classroom No. 17: The room is located on the south side of the building, between Classroom No. 16 and Boiler 
Room No. 18. The room has a workstation and sink area, a partially carpeted and partially tiled floor, concrete 
block walls, an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, original pendent ceiling light fixtures, an original open coat “cubby” 
area, a small original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and origi-
nal wood frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photos 98-99). A newer radiator system stretches below the 
replacement windows on the south wall.  

Boiler Room No. 18: This room is located between to Classroom No. 17 and Kitchen No. 21. The original slid-
ing track door leading from the corridor into the room is intact. The room has a concrete floor and concrete 
block walls. The room is filled with mechanical equipment and piping. A set of paired replacement windows 
and a single replacement entry door is located on the south wall of the room. A newer metal door leads from the 
corridor into the kitchen/storage area.  

Storage Area No. 20: This room is located on the northwest side of the kitchen space. The room is enclosed and 
contains lots of wood shelving units (photo 104).  

Kitchen No. 21: The kitchen is located north of the cafeteria space. The kitchen has concrete block walls, a red 
clay tile floor, and an acoustical tile drop ceiling. There is a small area with a stainless steel sink and countertop 
that was used for washing the trays/dishes. A small “pass-through” window is located near the sink (photo 105). 
All of the cooking and prepping equipment has been removed, except for the stainless steel range hood (photos 
107-108).  

Cafeteria No. 22: This is a large open room with a concrete floor, concrete block walls, an acoustical tile drop 
ceiling, original pendent ceiling light fixtures, and original ceiling mounted radiators (photos 110-111). A wall 
of replacement windows and one replacement door are located on the east side of the room. A set of double 
wood replacement doors provides access into the cafeteria from the corridor on the west wall. The original size 
of the cafeteria was enlarged at an unknown date. The addition was constructed on the south side of the original 
space (photo 113) and is accessed through two single door openings that were cut into the original south exterior 
wall of the building (photo 111).  

Primary Room No. 23: This room is located on the southwest corner of the building. It is across the corridor 
from the cafeteria and south of Boys’ Toilet No. 24. The room is larger than the other classrooms found in the 
building. The tile floor is covered with a four-square game laid out in the tile design (photos 122-124). Accord-
ing to the original drawings, this was part of the original design (see drawing 4). The room has a workstation 
and sink area, concrete block walls, an acoustical tile drop-ceiling, original pendent ceiling light fixtures, an 
original storage closet with an original wood door and hardware, an original bookshelf, and original wood 
frames for the tack board and chalkboard (photos 122 and 123). A newer radiator system stretches below the 
replacement windows on the west wall. There are two small toilet rooms located on the north end of the room 
with original fixtures and glazed tiled walls (photos 126-127).  

Boys’ Toilet No. 24: The room is located near the southwest corner of the building and is between Primary 
Room No. 23 and Janitor Room No. 26. The toilet room consists of the original mosaic tile floor, original glazed 
tile walls, and an original light fixture. There is a single replacement window located on the north wall (photo 
130). 

Girls’ Toilet No. 25: The room is located on the west side of the building north of Janitor Room No. 26 and 
adjacent to the vestibule located at the west end of the corridor. The toilet room consists of the original mosaic 
tile floor, original glazed tile walls, and an original light fixture. There is a single replacement window located 
on the north wall (photo 132). 



ERDC/CERL TR-11-25 114 

 

Janitor Room No. 26: The room is located between Boys’ Toilet No. 24 and Girls’ Toilet No. 25 on the west 
side of the building near the cafeteria. The room is small and consists of original glazed tile walls, a concrete 
floor, and an original mop sink (photo 134).  

Building 6824, Pence Elementary School, is 20,864 square feet and was built in 1954 by the Waynesville R-VI 
School District. The school was designed by Dan R. Sandford and Sons Architects of Springfield and Kansas 
City, Missouri.  

HISTORY 

The legal description of the building states: The area allocated for construction of an elementary school at Fort 
Leonard Wood, Missouri, consists of a tract of land lying in the housing area bounded as follows: South and 
East of Rolla Street, North of Pulaski Street, and West of Newburg Street. More particularly bounded as fol-
lows: South of Rolla Street, East of the Commissary, Building #52, North of the Post Exchange, Building #25, 
West of the Tennis Courts (see Appendix A). 

The Secretary of the Army, acting for and on behalf of the United States of America, as Secretary, did grant 
Lease No. DACA41-1-99-501 to the Waynesville R-VI School District, for the construction, operation, and 
maintenance of the school facilities (Pence Elementary School). 

The following information was gleaned from a packet given to the ERDC-CERL research team. The packet’s 
information pertained to the ownership of Pence School over the years.  

• Department of Health, Education, and Welfare 
Termination of Permit 
  
The permit granted by the Commissioner of Education, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare, 
hereinafter called the Commissioner, on November 20, 1956, to the Waynesville Reorganized School 
District No. 6, Waynesville, Missouri, hereinafter called the Agency, to use and occupy for school pur-
poses the school facilities designated as Project No. Mo-56-C-FED-1A6, on Fort Leonard Wood Mili-
tary Reservation, Missouri, provides that "This permit shall remain in effect until terminated by mutual 
agreement of the parties or revoked by the Commissioner." The Commissioner declares permit termi-
nated as of August 29, 1957 (see Appendix B). 

• Permit for School Purposes on Fort Leonard Wood Military Reservation 
Waynesville, Missouri 
  
The Waynesville Reorganized School District No. 6, Waynesville, Missouri, a local education agency, 
is herby granted a permit beginning on the 29th day of August, 1957, by the Commissioner of Educa-
tion, Department of Health, Education, and Welfare to use and occupy for school purposes, pursuant to 
Public Laws 815 and 874, 81st Congress, as amended and the permit dated April 6, 1954, to the Com-
missioner from the Secretary of the Army, all school buildings and other facilities located on the land 
in the State of Missouri, County of Pulaski, which is describe at the end hereof, together with all 
equipment, furnishings, and appurtenances installed therein or located thereon on the date of this permit 
or thereafter provided by the Commissioner, all of which are hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
Property.  
  
This permit shall remain in effect until terminated by mutual agreement of the parties or revoked by the 
Commissioner.  
A) Termination of the permit for the use of the land granted to the Commissioner by the Secretary of 
the Army under date of April 6, 1954 (see Appendix C). 

• Letter dated 22 May 1981 
  
Reference is made to USOE permit for use of Real Property by a Federal Agency Permit No. MO-52-
C-FED-1A, which grants to the Department of the Army (Permittee) by the Commissioner of Educa-
tion (Permitter) the use of Pence Elementary School at FLW, Missouri, for Army Child Care Center, 
for 5-year term, beginning 1 July 1980 and ending 30 June 1985 (see Appendix D).  
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• Letter dated April 26, 1994 

Subjects: 1. Return of Pence School Building 

The Waynesville School District once again requests the return of the Pence School Building for use by 
the district. The Board realizes the Army is constructing a child care facility which was discussed with 
us more than 10 years ago. According to a conversation with General Ballard, that facility should be 
completed in mid-year 1995.  

1. Purpose: To provide information on ownership and return of control of the building being occupied 
by Pence Child Development Center.  

2. Discussion.  

a. The land under Pence has been under Department of the Army lease to the Commissioner of Educa-
tion since 1953. The building was constructed by the R-VI school district and is owned by the district. 
The same principle applies to the other 6 school buildings on post. 

b. In 1980, the installation requested use of the building as a CDC and was issued a use permit in that 
year. The permit was renewed over the course of the intervening years until June of 1990.  

c. In March 1990, the school district requested return of the building (based on anticipated construction 
of the new CDC effective 1 July 1991). The occupation permit has not been renewed and we are cur-
rently occupying the building under sufferance of the school district. 

d. The school district plans to re-occupy the building as a school housing general and expanded special 
education missions upon completion of the new CDC in 1995 (Appendix E).  

• November 15, 1994 letter from Waynesville R-VI School District 
  
During the decade of the 80s, many specific improvements were made in all the buildings we operate 
on FLW. At this time, Pence School leased to the Army for a Pre-School child care facility. It appears 
that with the completion of a new child facility for the FLW community, this school district will reac-
quire Pence building. 

• Pursuant to the Resolution of the Waynesville R-VI School Districted dated may 18, 1998, and De-
cember 20, 1999, to obtain ownership of the Pence Elementary School located within FLW, Missouri, 
and in accordance with section 8008 (b) of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, for-
mal request is hereby made for the transfer of the school facility from the United States of America, 
U.S. Department of Education to the Waynesville R-VI School District (see Appendix F).  

• Permit Termination Agreement signed and dated 2001 
for Department of Education Schools 
Located on Fort Leonard Wood 
Pulaski County, Missouri 
  
Is made by and between the Secretary of Army (Permittor) and the Department of Education (Permit-
tee) effective upon the date of execution by both parties. 
  
 Whereas: The Secretary of the Army granted seven separate permits to the Department of Education to 
use and occupy, for school purposes, seven separate parcels of land on the FLW Military Installation, 
Missouri, between 5 August 1953 and 1 April 1962; and 
  
Whereas: The Department of Education in accordance with 20 U.S.C. Section 7708, has proposed to 
terminate the seven existing permits located on the FLW Military Installation, Missouri, and transfer all 
capital improvements to the Waynesville R-VI School District by individual "quit claim deed" over a 
period of time (see Appendix G). 

• According to Resolution Waynesville R-V1 Board of Education Pence Elementary School in January 
2011, it was stated “to terminate and rescind the ground lease on the Pence Elementary School on Fort 
Leonard Wood and in the quitclaim by the Waynesville R-V1 School district to the appropriate go-
vernmental entity of the United States. The quitclaim deed granted by the school district will include 
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language that the building is transferred in its “as-is” condition, the School District makes no warran-
ties as to the condition of the building, an assumes no liability of any type after the transfer, including 
for the existence of materials such as friable and non-friable asbestos contained in the transferred build-
ing.”  

• A letter dated February 2011 from the Waynesville R-V1 School District; office of the Superintendent 
stated that “The Pence School building located on Fort Leonard Wood has provided the School District 
and many on-base families with years of service. However, the usefulness of the Pence School building 
to the School District has ended. Because of its age and structural obsolescence, the building premises 
can no longer serve the School District’s needs. Therefore, the School Board requests that the ground 
lease dated May 1, 2006, (copy of which is enclosed) and any amendments or additions thereto be ter-
minated by written mutual agreement. Additionally, the School District requests that the Army accept 
title to the building premises. Finally, it is requested that the Army assume the cost of demolition of the 
building.  

• Furthermore, an email dated January 4, 2011, requested verification that the school building was not 
characterized or registered as a historical structure by the Missouri Office of Historical Preservation. 
The website that provides a registry listing of the designated “historical” buildings in Pulaski County 
determined that the Pence School building was not included in that list.  

Throughout the lease arrangements, the Army and the district have been able to work cooperatively to make 
alterations to the Pence Building. 

According to the Real Property Card for Building 6824, the structure was entered into FLW Integrated Facilities 
System in February 1978. 

Two environmental surveys have been conducted on Building 6824; Asbestos Survey at Pence School in De-
cember 2010 by Paragon Business Solutions and Management Plan AHERA Information and Training by Roth 
Asbestos Consultants Incorporated. 

A rehabilitation of the building for a child care center occurred in May 1980. According to the rehab drawing 
(see Drawing 10), the construction notes state to cut out a rough opening and frame in for a new 3’-0” x 6’-8” 
hollow metal door with panic hardware. However, according to the Real Property card, the doors and windows 
were not replaced until 1986. Also at this time, the original five-pane steel awning windows were removed and 
replaced with anodized bronze aluminum windows, the wood soffit was removed and replaced with new metal 
fascia and soffit, and the exterior light fixtures were replaced.  

The building underwent major kitchen renovation, upgrading the interior and all new kitchen equipment in 
1999. 

The building was vacated by the School District in 2005-2006. FLW began utilizing this facility for law en-
forcement training when needed.  

The school building was named after MG Arthur William Pence (pictured below). Major General Pence was 
born in 1898 and died in November 1954. He was an Ohio River Division Engineer and held Army Engineer 
posts in Montana and Mississippi. He served in World War I, World War II, the Korean War, and was the 
Commanding General of the 6th Armored Division at FLW from 1953–54. 
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Building 6824, Pence Elementary School, is in good condition; however, the building is currently vacant. Build-
ing 6824 has undergone changes since it was constructed in 1954. The exterior has been altered with replace-
ment windows and a new window pattern to include door opening modifications, replacement entry doors with 
sidelights and transoms, new metal fascia and soffit, and a one-story brick addition constructed to enlarge the 
original cafeteria. Building 6824 no longer conveys some of its original construction materials, though its func-
tion has remained constant as an education/child care facility. There have been tests conducted on the materials 
of the building, such as lead paint and asbestos tiles, and it was concluded that both hazardous materials were 
found within Pence Elementary School.  

INTEGRITY 

Exterior: 

Original Architectural Features Replacement Features 

L-shaped footprint Slightly modified with the construction of an 
addition on the southwest corner to enlarge the 
original cafeteria 

Concrete block construction with a tan brick veneer  —— 

Flat built-up roof —— 

Rows of five-pane steel awning windows Windows have been removed and replaced with 
one-over-one anodized bronze aluminum win-
dows and the window pattern has been modified 
to include a new door opening in one of the orig-
inal window openings 

Three-light steel entry doors with sidelights and tran-
soms 

Removed and replaced with anodized bronze 
aluminum and glass doors, sidelights and tran-
soms 

Metal and concrete canopies over entries Modified with metal sheet coverings 

Wood fascia and soffit  Modified with metal 

Playgrounds  Most of the playground equipment is intact with 
the addition of newer playground equipment 

Interior: 

Original Architectural Features Replacement Features 

11 classrooms, 1 music and art room, 1 primary 
room, 4 toilet rooms, two janitor rooms, 1 health 
room, 1 office, 1 teacher’s room, 1 kitchen with pan-
try, 1 boiler room, and 1 cafeteria 

The health room and office dividing wall has 
been removed to make one large room and an 
addition was constructed on the south end of the 
original cafeteria 

Concrete block walls —— 

Intersecting corridors —— 

Asbestos tile floors Some flooring removed and replaced with carpet 

Classrooms with framed chalkboard, framed tack 
board, wood shelving unit, an open coat “cubby”, a 
small storage closet, and a workstation with a sink 

The majority of these features are intact with 
slight modifications, such as removed chalk-
boards, replacement countertops in workstations, 
and newer door openings cut into the wall of the 
coat “cubby” to connect the adjoining rooms 

 



ERDC/CERL TR-11-25 118 

 

Toilet rooms with toilets, urinals, sinks, glazed tile 
walls, and mosaic tile floors 

The majority of the original features are intact 
with the exception of a few replaced toilets and 
urinals  

Janitor room with mop sink and concrete floor —— 

Wood doors with two lights  All have been replaced with the exception of the 
health room door 

Unknown Drop-tile ceilings installed throughout 

Pendent ceiling light fixtures Some of the light fixtures have been replaced 

Hopscotch game designed in tile floor and four-
square game designed in tile floor in primary room 

—— 

Photo 135. Comparison maps for location of Building 6824: 1962 map on left and 2010 map on right. 

Photo 136. North elevation with main entrance and wall of windows: Original drawing on the left from 
1954 with original five-pane awning windows compared to the current replacement doors, sidelights, 
transom, and metal double-hung windows.  
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Photo 137. Window comparison: Original drawing on the left from 1954 showing five-pane awning type 
windows compared to the current replacement metal double-hung windows with the addition of a 
newer door opening filled with a metal door and metal siding.  

Photo 138. Southwest entrance elevation: Original drawing on the left from 1954 compared to the 
current replacement doors, sidelights, and transom. 
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Photo 139. Entrance on south elevation: Original drawing on the left from 1954 compared to the 
current replacement doors and transom.  

Photo 140. Entrance into the cafeteria on the east wall: Original drawing on the left from 1954 
compared to the current replacement door, transom, and windows on the right. 
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Photo 141. Right side of the west elevation: Original drawing on the left from 1954 compared to the 
current replacement door, transom, and windows on the right.  

Photo 142. Cafeteria addition: Original drawing on the left from 1954 with no expanded cafteria space 
compared to the current size of the cafertia with the construction of an addition, highlighted in red.  

Photo 143. Classroom detail of coat “cubby” area, teacher’s storage closet, and workstation with sink: 
Original drawing on the left from 1954 compared to the current condition of a typical classroom detail 
on the right. 

 



ERDC/CERL TR-11-25 122 

 

Photo 144. Classroom detail of storage shelf and tack board: Original drawing on the left from 1954 
compared to the current condition of a typical classroom detail with a replacement whiteboard where 
the tack board use to be located on the right.  

Photo 145. Classroom detail of chalkboard: original drawing on the left from 1954 compared to the 
current condition in the photo on the right of a typical classroom detail where the original chalkboard 
has been removed. 

Photo 146. Hopscotch detail: original drawing on the left from 1954 compared to the current condition 
of a hop-scotch detail (location on drawing and actual location are different- see Drawing 3 below). 
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Building 6824, Pence Elementary School, is not associated with any particular event that is significant in the 
history of the overall Cold War or in the history of FLW. The building was constructed to meet the growing 
needs of the school-age child living on post. 

SIGNIFICANCE 

It is the determination of this report that Building 6824, Pence Elementary School, is NOT eligible to 
the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) since it could not be related to a significant event for 
Criterion A, a significant person for Criterion B, a significant architect or design for Criterion C, nor is 
it likely to yield information potential for Criterion D.  

DETERMINATION OF CONTRIBUTING/NONCONTRIBUTING STATUS 
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Drawing 1. Elevations and sections, 1954. 

DRAWINGS 
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Drawing 2. Revised floor plan, 1954. 
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Drawing 3. 1954 floor plan depicting the original location of the hopscotch detail in the tiled floor. 

Drawing 4. 1954 floor plan depicting the original location of the four-square detail in the tiled floor.  
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Drawing 5. 1954 detail drawing plan of classroom details and typical door entrance.  
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Drawing 6. Detail plan, January 1954. 
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Drawing 7. 1954 detail of canopy and supports.  
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Drawing 8. 1954 detail drawings of kitchen.  
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Drawing 9. 1980 site plan.  
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Drawing 10. 1980 rehab plan for building with construction notes to cut new opening for metal doors 
leading out from classrooms.  
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Drawing 11. Rehab Floor Plan. 

Drawing 12. Rehab Window Details. 
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Appendix A: Legal Land Description 
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Appendix B: Department of Health, 
Education, and Welfare – Termination of 

Permit 1957 
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Rill I • Grlgsby 
Diroctor, School Ass tanee 
i n P'eder1J.11 Aff'ected Areas 

(SEAL) 

'!.he Agentry hereb7 consents and agrees to the abov-e provisions 

and eondi ti ons . 

~~~ » >- '*-For ';) 

Waynesville Reorsanized School District No. 6 
Full Legal Nee of Agency 

eerti!icate of Auth~ntication 

I, Claude H. Morgan , certify that I 8Jl the secr etary 
Kane Title 

ofWaynesville Reorganized School Di strict ~o~ .Agency herein) that 
toca'l Eauaa tloilB.i Agency· 

C. W. Parker , who signed thiJ5 tenrl..na tion ot pend. t on 
1~a:rne 

behalf o! the Agency, was then superinteDdent of said .A.gc;u:;n that 
Title 

arid te.nd.nation or pendt vas dul.y dgn.ed for and in behalf o! said 

Agency by authority of its go"\l'ern:ing body, and is wi. thin the scope of 

its corporate powers. 

ga..~ 
Secretary Board of Education 

(Title) 
vlaynesville Reorganized School District No. • 
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Appendix C: Permit for School Purposes 
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---·, ~ ... ..,--_,~ -6i .. ~,..,~ 

Office of Edttcation ?rt'joflt }lo. l!o- )2-c-FED-U 
washington 25, n.c. 

PERKIT I'OR saiOOL !'tiRPOBF.S 
0!1 

FC8! IJXlNA.RD "WOOD HILITAR-Y RESmtVA.'liON 
WADESVILLE• MISSOORI 

The waynesville Reorpnilllld Sohooil. District No. 6, Waynesville, Jfusaouri, t. 

looal educ•tian.al apnOf (here:m..fter called the Agency), ill bare'b;r gl.'&nted a pertdt 

beginnin& on the -.:c.?9t=b __ .a;y of August , l9S.Z., by the OOlll!lissioner of 

Education, Departllent ot lieal th, Education, llnd Welfare (heraindter oalled the Oomaie• 

sionor) to liSe and occupy !or acboal purpoaes, plllTOant. to Public Lt.we 6lS lllld 674, 

Slat Congress, as 1111t011ded and the pendt dated April 6 , 1954, to the Oomdsaioner !rOll 

the Secretar;y of tho ArliT, 2ll sehool buildings and other tacilitiea located on the 

land in the Sta-t. til Miaaall:rl, Count7 of Plll.nlci, llhich 111 described at the ebd hereof, 

toeether vith al.l. equip~~ant, turniBhinp and appurtenances (a det.t.iled invento17 of 

llh.ioh 1s a ttached he.Mto} installed therein or located thereon on the date O<f thia 

'Penllit or therutter pro"t'ided by the COll2iu1oner, all of which are heNinafter 
I 

crolleot1vel7 r eferred to u the Property. 

TJtia perm! t is l£l'llllted SUbJect to the fOllowing pNY1sion.& and O.On4i tiona 1 

1. !bat the J.eenc;y shall conduct in such ! acilit1n an education prograwt for 

children residing on Fort Leonard Yood Mil1 taey lleeena ti.Oll ae a part e~f the Age.nOf'll 

•onool s;yatem in accordance tr1tb the laVll of tlus State ot H1esour1, 

2 . That tb.a Apna7 shall pay &11 cha'l'tes !or utili ties and services funtiahed 

to the Proper-l;Y. P~nt shall be .ad& ci.1reotl to the producing or 811ppl;ying ooazpa~~y 

or to the Departznent of the Anq for the 1Xt1li ties and services whioh are pNdw:1ed or 

•IIPPliad by each, re,speotiYtl ;r. 

) , That the Agency shill u.se the ?roperv duri.llg the t8l"'ll or this pel'llit !or 

the purpaae duorl.bed ahov•1 eubjeot to 1110h reannable rules and regulati.ons r slative 

to 1ngrue, agrtfe~ aecurltr, and non.-achool \l8e aa llii:J be prescribed b;r the Seentary 

of the !~ or the C)ft1cn in chJirge ol the i.l:!st.alh'ti~ with tho approval of the 

COft!lliseionell. 

4. 'Ihat the Ar-e=r shall 1!1&1ntdn:Jind lrewp the Proper tr in good repair and 

operating condition (inollldine r epair or recon.struotl.on due to di!Mllge oocuionecl bJ 

&IIJ' rislc, such as !'1l'8 or the ebar.ztt.e , to whi.Qh til$ Property ill exposed) on the 

l)l'8llent cite, and, bmediatel:v upon the toTllli.natl.on of tbb pemit as herein provided, 
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1B in wen deU:rued to the AaeJ:l07. reasonable vear and tear and loee 

C&Ulled by war excepted, Repair to or ntc:oiUI truotion of propert7 req\U.rina 

tures in &JlCes. of $$00. 00 aball be upon pl.lU:IS o.ppr<m!d. by w Caamiasione!ll. 

5, (a) That the Ageney 8hall procure 11114 JU.intain sllCb ina~ one~ng the 

rl.alas to which tbtr Propart.7 ia expoeed aa the Comminione:r l1lliY require , shall prcoptly 

dal.iver proof of cCJVaNge to the Comzisaioner, and :shal.l £iva due noU.oa to the proper 

insurance companies and to tho Commi8Gi011er o"f aJtr losll or ~ to the Properly. 

(b) :hat the CW!IIIiaeianer 111q require the Aaency to reni t to the ttni ted 

States an;r pa.yunt in exc"a of $500.00 l'ClCOived by it puraiWlt to iruJurQnee provided 

Wlder puagl'apb S(a) . In ncl:l event tho 1gene:r•a obligation to repair or reconstruct 

llllder pangraph 4 aball be daa•ed 1'ul!1lled to the ertent. of the c!au.ge f er 11hicb the 

pa.,momt rllllli t ted to tlle Coui:saiCIUir wu made. 

6. '111at the Agency 1ball pendt the Ccz:mie11ionor, or his authorl>&ed repl'Uentlr;­

tivq, at any reasonable U.. to outer upon a.nd inspect the Propert)r, and ahall eubtlit 

ourl"ent inventoriae at the CO:mdaaionor'a :request of the equip!Mllt, fumiehinge and 

appurteoancN located in the !acili ties or on the a1 te. 

1. that the Ageno;r •hall aavo the tndted States Govanlllellt and the Camdssi.oMr 

h&rllleaa fl"'lll aey liiDlil.itJ" or ol.&iA arieing tl'al!l tbe Aguney' a posa~:seion, uae, lUinte­

nanoe a1ll!! operation o£ t.lle Property or the f'llltil.bent o! its oblip'U.ollll hereunder, 

and 1! the A~q i:s insured againat tort liability in re other achocl i'aellitiee wiob 

it QWnll and opel"& tea, it shill e&rl'"J" si!:l.ilar iru.-w:ll!lce in rc the propeM;r be rein 

described. 

8 , !bat. tbos ~ abal.l not. &sll1gn or trana.rer 1ta rights or interowt liDdft' 

this pemit, or transfer pouea:sion ot, or dispose o! tbe PrQpel>'ty or any- part thereof, 

or create or pel'lldt & lien or ~· upOfl or olA:ia apinat t~ Property- or aey part 

thereof, w1 thout the cone.mt of the c-iesi.Oiler evidenced in wt:t'Uug. 

9. Tl!o.t the tl!lited States Oo'lel!tlmallt and the Ooelllia&ioner aes~ae no llabilltjr 

!or aey dauge, injU17, lou, or ~~~ caused b;r, reaul ti.lla !ro111, or l!.r:ising in 

connection vith the Pl>opel't.r e~r ita use, ol' f%'0111 IUlJ defect in or tl-011 reprosentatioua 

net herein aontainod aad11 eonoe:rni.n& the Properly; Mr !or an;r p&rt of tbe cost ot 

oporating n1d Property and couductina an odue<~t.ion program thenon, except. to the 

ut.ent to Wiah the Agenq 1e entitJ.ed to aaaiatance under Public Law 874, Slat Congz·en, 

or &:'17 &ube~nt legialation in extension ther•of or in substitllt.i.on therefor. 
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ahal1 be conducted wttJlout eegreption on the baeie of race ar color. 

'lhl.s permit ahall r -.tn in C'!'fect until 'ttmllinated by mutual agre-\ G! e:. 

partite ar re'toked b7 the Ci:lllUiiaeiOJter. .t.n;, ot \ha tolloving reaso~:~& eh&U be • 

ground for l'GTOCation b)- the CQ!ftllliuiat!ar l 

(Seal) 

{a) 'l"e:rmination o! the pel'Ui t !or the uae of the land tr;t•lulted to the 
Collllisdoner by" the Se:eretarT or tbe Arrq unileJ! date or April. 6 1 l9S4J 

(b) failure of the .lgeno;y to operate the Propert;y in •ccordlltloe wi1i'l the 
public scbocl law o! the State of Jlt1ssour1J 

(e) Failure or 1nabilit1 oJ: the Ar,sncy to CQitPly with any or the t4lmiJ 
or coDdi t.iotll o! this pel'llli tJ 

( 4) Til:llllin&tion of the .facta and ooodi ti.ollll gpon vhioh the c-ielioner• s 
authori \r tc ;n-oVitie the Property 1a bn_,ed; or 

(e) Tonaination of the autb.orl ty and reepcmrlbili ty of the COidUlei.orun• to 
Jn'l)vide aohcol fac:Ui t.ies 1Uid free public educa t.:l.on for ohildren wbo 
reside on Federal sstabllahiMnte under Public Lava 81$" and 87h 1 But 
Congre.u, or subaeEtnent. Uwa or the United Statea. 

Dl W!TiliSS IIIB!R!01, AID BY 'mX Dnt!(ITIOO at' 'DlK C<IIMISSIORE!l1 I ban ner.u:nto 

' 1951· 

YOR 'DIE O<IUlJ.SSIO!lER or Pl)UCl TION 

01rerlor1 School !ssietance 
1n fedenlly ur.ow.d Areas 

thU 

'l'he Agency heMb)- consents and agrees t.o the abo't'11 provisions and condiUonts. 

Waynesville Reorganized School District No. 6 
'I"Ull Le~l Rae ol" lgency 

Cel'titicate of A11thent1cat1on 

I, Claude H, Morgen , certify that I am the secretary 
w.&e --------~Ti~U'"e~-------

o! Waynesville-Reorganized School District No. ,6 the Agency herein; th.at c. ••. ?i!"'...k'£7 
Loci! Edna t!Oiiil AiltllC)" u.a.a 

WhO rtaned this pel'll! t OU behalf o! the Agency, li&!t then SU,Perintendent of E.a,W 

Ht.le 
Agency] that uid p8%'1!1it vu dnl;r signed for and in behal! o! eaid A~ency b;r a llill4rlt}" 

of 1 ts governing bodJ 1 and b v1 thin the scope of i tB corporate powers . 
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Appendix D: USOE Permit for Use of Real 
Property by Federal Agency – Permit No. 

MO-52-C-FED-1A 
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USOE PERMIT FOR USE OF REAL PROPERTY 
BY A FEDERAL AGENCY--Permit No. M0-52-C-PED-IA 

This AGREEI'!ENT , made and entered this 120 ~ day of IYJA- '-/ 
in the year of 1980, by and bet~een ther;nited States Commi{;ioner 

of Education, also kno~n as the PERMITTOR, sod the United 

States Department of the Army , also kno~n as the PERMITTEE , for 

the purpose of granting permission by the PERMITTOR to the 

PERMITTEE to use the follo~ing described property for the 

purposes hereinafter described and subject to the conditions 

contained herein. 

1. The property description and location is Pence Elementary 
School, Fort Leonard Wood , Missouri. 

2. The purpose for vhich the property is to be used is an 
Army Child Care Center and related functions as may be 
authorized from time to time by the PERMITTOR upon 
request by the PERMITTEE during the period of this 
AGREEMENT. 

3. This AGREEMENT shall be for a period beginning I July 1980 
and end~ng ~0 J~;,l~S , except that sucb period.is subject 
to termLnat1on ~od ~calendar days advance ~r1tten 
notice by either party; and, further , such period may be 
extended by mutual agreement of both parties. 

4 . The use and occupancy of the property shall be under the 
general supervision of the Area Chief , SAFA Program Officer , 
U. S. Office of Education, Bureau of Elementary and 
Secondary Education , Di~ision of School Assistance in 
Federally Affected Areas, Field Operations Branch, 
Washington, D. C., representing the PERMITTOR. 

The representative of the PERMITTEE is designated as the 
U. S , ATmy District Engineer, Chief, Real Estate D~vision, 
Kansas City, MO . 

5. Permission granted and accepted herein shall be ~i t hout 
monetary consideration from · one party to the other in 
consideration of the covenants contained herein . 

6. This permit is conditional upon State School 159 (State 
Training School) remaining at the Pence Elementary School. 

]. Use and occupancy by the PERMITTEE shall be at no cost to 
the PERMITTOR, routine administrative expenses excepted. 
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8. Additions co or alterations of the property shall be subject 
to prior ~ritten authori~ation by the PERMITTOR or his 
authorized representative. 

9. The PERMITTEE shall hold harmless the PERMITTOR, its 
agents and assigns from any liability for claims of any 
kind arising out of the use by the PERMITTEE of the property; 
and, fur t her , the PERMITTEE shall do all things necessary 
and proper to settle or deny liability for all claims 
made against the United States of America or any of its 
agents or assigns arising out of such use. 

10 . On or before the expiration or term.ination of this 
AGREEMENT, the PERMITTEE shall vacate the property , r emove 
his personal property therefrom , and restore the premises 
to the condition at the time of acceptance of this 
agreement , normal wear and tear excepted . 

For the Commissioner 

For the Departmen t of the Army 

For the School Board 

(!{;r ~o , 1r2o 
Date ' ' 

William L . Stormer, Director 
Division of Schoo l Assistance 

in Federally Affected Areas 

Chief , Division of Real Estate 
0. S. Army District Engineer 
Kansas City District 

~~/r*=~?fvr-: 
Reorganized School District No. 6 
Pulaski County , Missour i · 
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Appendix E: Return of Pence School,  
dated April 26, 1994 
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G.A.l'\AXIIlELL 

Family Support Division JITZT-CJ\-fSD 

596-0195 lS April 1994 

Return o£ Pence School to R-VI School District 

1 . Purpose . To provide :nfonnation on ownership and return of control of the building 
being occupied by Pence Child Development Center (CDC). 

2, Recommendation. That the CG note the content of this paper . 

3. Otscusslon. 

a. The land under Pence has been on under Department of the Army lease to the 
Commissioner of Education since 1953. The butldtng was constructed by the R-Vl school 
iistrict and is owned by the district . The same principle applies to the other 6 school 
ouildings on post . 

b . ln 1980 tne lnstallatton requested use ot tne butlding as a CDC and was issued a 
use permit tn that year . The permtt was renewed over the course of the lnlervening year! 
until June of 1990. 

c . In March 1990 tbe school district requested return of the building (based on the 
anticipated construction of the new CDC) effective 1 July 1991 . The occupation permit h~f 
not been renewed and we are currently occupying the building under sufferance of the 
school district. 

d. The school dtstrict plans to re-occupy the butlding as a school nousing general 
and expanded special education missions upon c~letion of the the new CDC in 1995 . 

4. Resource impact . N/JI . 

None 

DCfA 

Garri son Cn-.d 
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Appendix F: Assurances, dated December 
1999 
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- 06 10 36 F~\ 1 01 %60509~ 1'5 llEf'T Ell OGC 

Page 2 - Assurances 

7. Assert that the Missouri Department of Education has certified that 

8 . 

9. 

a The Waynesvitle A-VI School District is legally authorized, under 
State law, to spend State or local funds to construct, repalr, 
maintain. and operate school facilities for public educational 
purpose on lands leased to it from the United States of America; 
and 

b. The use ot school facilities by the District is not inconsistent with 
overall State plans ior providing school facilities in the State. 

Certify lhat It will record the Quitclaim Deed to be executed between the 
U.S. Department of Education and the District with the appropriate 
recorder oi deeds within ten days aft.er the Quitc!aJm Deed and the 
Aoceprance are executed. 

Certify that will will provide the U.S. Department of Education with a copy 
of the Quitclaim Deed within ten days after il is recorded. 

ij)005 

Having fulfilled these assurance, the Wa~nesville A-VI School District requests the transfer 
of the facilities as described In Exhibit "A of this document, together with the equipment 
contained therein. A list of such equipment contained in each school facility, as recorded on 
the District's general fixed asset accounts, will be provided. The aforementioned school 
facilities and school equipment were originally provided for under either Public law 81-815 
section 10, 10 USC 2008, or 20 USC 7708. 

These assurance are made upon the understanding that transfer of the above-listed school 
facilities will be effected upon receipt or these assurance and approval of tl:te equipment 
lists. 

Waynesville A· VI School District 
Acting by and through 

Superintendent 

I 
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Appendix G: Permit Termination 
Agreement for Department of Education 

School Located on Fort Leonard Wood 
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Permit Termination Agreement Fo 
DepattmenL of Education Schools 

As evidenced below, lhe parties hereby ac~epr this Permit Termination Agreement 

THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 

Dare 1/17/2001 
Assistant Secretary for 
Elementary and Secondary Education 

THE DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY 

Date 
~;.),~J?Sb 

GREG G. Wll.SON 
Chief, Real Estate Division 

3 
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